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          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I call the

          3  Subcommittee on Zoning and Franchises to order.

          4  Joining me this morning are Council Member Melinda

          5  Katz, Mike McMahon, Christine Quinn, and we will be

          6  hearing testimony from the Administration in

          7  reference to issues that we raised at the June 8th

          8  meeting.

          9                 If I can have them come forward.

         10                 Good morning. Please introduce

         11  yourself for the record and begin your testimony.

         12                 Good morning, Chair.

         13                 Josh Sirefman, Chief Operation

         14  Officer for the New York City Economic Development

         15  Corporation. I'm actually going to testify after my

         16  colleagues here, and they can introduce themselves.

         17                 MR. RUSSO: Good morning, Chairman

         18  Avella, and members of the Zoning and Franchises

         19  Subcommittee.

         20                 My name is Ryan Russo, and I'm the

         21  Downtown Brooklyn Transportation Coordinator of the

         22  New York City Department of Transportation.

         23                 I want to thank you for the

         24  opportunity to be here today to give a brief

         25  statement regarding DOT's Downtown Brooklyn's
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          2  Traffic Calming Project.

          3                 As you may be aware, the Traffic

          4  Calming Study, after years of dialogue with the

          5  community, is about to come to completion.

          6                 In fact, in the next few days the

          7  final report will be issued, downloadable from our

          8  website.

          9                 Given the importance of these

         10  recommendations for the greater Downtown area, in

         11  March 2004 DOT announced that $4 million in funding

         12  for the capital improvement associated with this

         13  project, has been advanced from Fiscal Year 2009 to

         14  Fiscal Year 2006.

         15                 This will enable us to install

         16  neckdowns, median extensions, and other traffic

         17  calming improvements, work that requires capital

         18  construction.

         19                 Our engineers have been out in the

         20  field, beginning the design process that will

         21  continue over the next year, ensuring that we can

         22  move as many of these improvements forward as

         23  quickly as possible.

         24                 Also in March, DOT advanced its $8.2

         25  million Tillary Street full reconstruction project
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          2  from Fiscal Year 2009 to Fiscal Year 2007. More than

          3  just a reconstruction, this work at the gateway to

          4  Downtown Brooklyn will also include safety

          5  improvements.

          6                 Advancing this project is borne out

          7  of recognition that infrastructure investment and

          8  planned growth should proceed hand in hand.

          9                 While the Downtown Brooklyn Traffic

         10  Calming study is formally concluded with the

         11  issuance of its final report, DOT has implemented

         12  dozens of improvements in and around downtown since

         13  the project's inception.

         14                 In particular, in the last 12 months,

         15  we have made improvements along a number of key

         16  corridors including Clinton Street, Smith Street,

         17  Hicks Street and Third Avenue.

         18                 More non-capital traffic calming

         19  improvements will be implemented by the end of this

         20  year in other locations. Among those improvements

         21  are new bicycle lanes, high-visibility crosswalks,

         22  signal timing adjustments, and geometric changes

         23  that will improve pedestrian safety.

         24                 Please note that the Tillary Street

         25  reconstruction and implementation of the traffic
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          2  calming project are not the extent of our efforts in

          3  the dynamic greater downtown area. We have and

          4  continue to dedicate new resources to ensure

          5  adequate response to the demands and issues raised

          6  at the Downtown Brooklyn Plan and Brooklyn's overall

          7  revitalization proceed from vision to reality.

          8                 Thank you for the opportunity to be

          9  here today, and I'm happy to answer any questions

         10  that you have.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: You're only going

         12  to talk about the traffic component, correct?

         13                 MR. RUSSO: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Then why don't we

         15  take questions on that first, and then we'll proceed

         16  to the other components.

         17                 We've also been joined by Council

         18  Member Maria Baez.

         19                 I'm not sure this is exactly what I

         20  asked for. I asked for specific projects that you

         21  would be advancing from Fiscal Year 2009 to Fiscal

         22  Year 2006.

         23                 MR. RUSSO: Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: And I don't see

         25  specific projects there. I see "install neckdowns,
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          2  median extensions, and other traffic calming

          3  improvements." I think given the huge nature of this

          4  project, I think the community is entitled to know

          5  exactly what you're advancing in terms of a project.

          6                 MR. RUSSO: Right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: So, what's your

          8  answer to may question again?

          9                 MR. RUSSO: If you're familiar with

         10  the Downtown Brooklyn Traffic Calming Project, it's

         11  not just the downtown core, it includes all the

         12  residential Brownstone Brooklyn ringing Downtown

         13  Brooklyn. And if you go through that document you'll

         14  see it's a dramatic change in the streets.

         15                 There's literally hundreds of

         16  recommendations where the street is changing in

         17  design. So, at one intersection, we have hundreds of

         18  intersections, when we say "neckdowns" we're

         19  building out the sidewalk at an intersection to

         20  reduce the crossing distance for pedestrians, the

         21  slow-turning movements of vehicles, sort of

         22  reallocating street space in dozens of locations.

         23  And you know, I can mention sort of corridors that

         24  we're looking at but we're doing this all over

         25  Downtown, and you know, beginning the design

                                                            8

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  process. And the community is very familiar with

          3  these recommendations.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: So, in effect,

          5  it's more of improvements and individual

          6  intersections and streets rather than a major

          7  capital reconstruction; am I correct, then?

          8                 MR. RUSSO: Right.

          9                 We have $4 million to sort of spend

         10  on dozens, scores of things, actually.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: When you say the

         12  money has been advanced to Fiscal Year 2006; does

         13  that mean these things are going to go into effect

         14  in 2006? More narrowly define the timetable for

         15  that.

         16                 MR. RUSSO: That fiscal year begins in

         17  13 months, I believe. So, the design process will be

         18  proceeding over the next sort of year, and then

         19  that's sort of contracting and building. You know,

         20  you can't sort of say exactly whether someone will

         21  be on the ground that day when the Fiscal year

         22  begins, but the money is there to sort of start --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: It should happen

         24  within that fiscal year, though?

         25                 MR. RUSSO: It should begin now.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

          3  Quinn has a question.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: The amount of 4

          5  million, the study is just being completed and

          6  released, right?

          7                 MR. RUSSO: There was a draft final

          8  report released a year ago and we took feedback from

          9  the community.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So, is the $4

         11  million the amount that the draft community input

         12  and now final indicated was needed?

         13                 MR. RUSSO: It's actually not the full

         14  amount, but there is other projects that are

         15  building the recommendations.

         16                 For example, Downtown Brooklyn Plan

         17  is focusing on the Flatbush Avenue corridor. So, the

         18  investment that EDC is making is building off our

         19  traffic calming study and basically building those

         20  recommendations so they're a part that are getting

         21  built through other projects.

         22                 We have other reconstructions.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: If you were to

         24  give us a sense of, you know, just a ball park, of

         25  the recommendations that are in your report, are in
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          2  this final draft report, are between DOT, EDC, or

          3  the other entities involved in this project are, 20

          4  percent, 50, 80, just I know you can't tell me

          5  exactly, but just a range of how many are getting

          6  implemented, somehow?

          7                 MR. RUSSO: It's difficult to say

          8  because each recommendation has to be sort of

          9  examined by an engineer, whether it's actually

         10  feasible to build. You know our streets are sort of

         11  complicated, and we can talk about ponding issues

         12  and drainage relocation and those sorts of things.

         13  So, there's a feasibility analysis for it that has

         14  to proceed which has begun.

         15                 Like I said, we've been out there

         16  looking at conditions and having detailed survey

         17  reports done.

         18                 So, in terms of what can happen, it's

         19  hard to say. In terms of the capacity we have to do

         20  it, sort of together, you know, I think a

         21  significant majority of the sort of recommendations

         22  we have, the sort of financial capacity.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So, when you do

         24  sort of say you do collectively have the financial

         25  capacity, so, if 100 percent of the items were found
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          2  to be technically engineering-wise doable, there is

          3  that much money in the budget?

          4                 I mean, I come from a neighborhood

          5  where there is a tremendous amount, west side of

          6  Manhattan, tremendous amount of traffic problems, so

          7  I'm particularly sensitive to traffic issues. And it

          8  seems, and why I think the Chair wanted you to come

          9  back with more information, is recognition of this.

         10  This is really the moment where the community can

         11  get the hard, you know, line items in the budget

         12  commitments on the traffic.

         13                 So, I appreciate that there is

         14  massive amounts of technical and engineering issues,

         15  so I'm not that sympathetic to the fact that the

         16  timing couldn't have been worked out for the two,

         17  you know, those and the process we're engaged in

         18  today, to coincide.

         19                 Four-million dollars doesn't seem

         20  like a lot as it relates to the level of traffic

         21  problems that probably exist in this area presently,

         22  and any kind of development will bring more traffic.

         23                 MR. SIREFMAN: Council member, let me

         24  give a little bit of a background context for this.

         25                 As you know, our sister agency DOT
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          2  undertook the Traffic Calming Study work for quite

          3  some time now. The Downtown Brooklyn Plan then

          4  started after that. What we've done since then is

          5  that as part of the Downtown Plan, there are a

          6  significant number of actions addressing

          7  transportation issues, traffic issues, parking

          8  issues, that are part of the Downtown Plan.

          9                 The specific projects that Ryan is

         10  referring to are those that would further enhance

         11  the Downtown Plan but were separately part of the

         12  Traffic Calming Study.

         13                 So, for example, Tillary Street was

         14  identified as a major need. There was not anything

         15  in the Downtown Plan budget that covered that, but

         16  what we did was worked together to figure out how

         17  can the Downtown, the budget for the calming work,

         18  be expedited in a way that made it part of the

         19  Downtown Plan.

         20                 So, the items that Ryan has presented

         21  are not by a lot the only projects contained within

         22  the Downtown Plan that would address those issues.

         23                 MR. RUSSO: And if I may? This plan

         24  covers a large area, like I said, and has

         25  recommendations in multiple locations, and what it
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          2  is is they're there for when the project comes. So,

          3  for example, the $8.7 million Tillary Street

          4  reconstruction will accomplish the maybe $50,000

          5  cost recommendations of changes to Tillary Street

          6  that were in that project.

          7                 So, each project that comes

          8  incorporates this recommendation, and there are

          9  actually development projects that exist on a parcel

         10  where the Traffic Calming Project made

         11  recommendations that will last, that project has to

         12  reconstruct the sidewalk and incorporate the

         13  recommendations. So, there's a lot of avenues for us

         14  to complete the plan.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I guess my

         16  final question.

         17                 You're probably right, there probably

         18  are a lot of avenues and unique opportunities. I

         19  guess I'm just trying to get a better sense of how

         20  many of those unique opportunities there are, how

         21  close that gets the communities to experiencing the

         22  goal of what was in your report, (a), and then (b),

         23  for whatever that is, how much of it is funded?

         24                 MR. RUSSO: Well, you should also note

         25  that there are things we just do out of our
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          2  day-to-day sort of budget recommendations that are

          3  part of the full cost of the plan, the more

          4  operational side that are already in the ground,

          5  that we're putting in the ground now. So, there are

          6  things that we sort of accomplish that's

          7  non-capital, and a significant majority of that

          8  moving forward.

          9                 So, on the capital side, if you want

         10  to know sort of more avenues we have when we do a

         11  reconstruction --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I'm not

         13  interested in your general avenues. I guess it

         14  sounds like you either don't have it or didn't pull

         15  it together for this meeting, those would have been

         16  useful if you had it. I'm not interested in the

         17  general avenues, I mean we all kind of know that,

         18  we've all experienced, you know, development in DOT

         19  projects and stuff, I wanted to get a better sense

         20  for this specifically, but it sounds like you don't

         21  have that information.

         22                 MR. SIREFMAN: Council member, it's

         23  also important to note that the budget for

         24  implementing the Downtown Plan, a significant

         25  portion of that is for revamping of Flatbush Avenue
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          2  for multiple purposes, one of which is for

          3  transportation purposes. It's important to note

          4  that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Why don't we move

          7  onto the next part of the testimony.

          8                 MS. MYER: Good morning, Chair Avella,

          9  and members of the Subcommittee on Zoning and

         10  Franchises. I'm Regina Myer, Director of the New

         11  York City Department of City Planning's Brooklyn

         12  Office.

         13                 I'm here today to testify regarding

         14  additional questions you have had relating to open

         15  space and historic resources.

         16                 In terms of open space, we have

         17  investigated the request for a new park along

         18  Schermerhorn Street that the Boerum Hill Association

         19  suggested in the testimony on Tuesday.

         20                 We found that this new park would

         21  require condemnation and acquisition on two blocks,

         22  on Block 172, located between Bond and Nevins

         23  Streets. This area now contains several parking

         24  lots, a medical office building, and the PS 369

         25  school yard.
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          2                 Over 44,375 square feet of private

          3  property would need to be acquired for this

          4  suggested park.

          5                 Block 173, between Nevins Street and

          6  Flatbush Avenue, this stretch already contains the

          7  23,000 square foot, 16 Sicamoris Park (phonetic).

          8  It's surrounded, however, with a recently renovated

          9  HRA building on private property and a church.

         10                 Over 32,700 square feet of private

         11  property would be to be acquired to enlarge this

         12  park, included in the displacement of both the

         13  12,780 square foot City office building and the

         14  church.

         15                 Due to budgetary concerns related to

         16  this acquisition, and the commensurate increase in

         17  our condemnation request, the idea to expand the

         18  open space along Schermerhorn Street in the Downtown

         19  is impractical.

         20                 I'd like to emphasize, however, that

         21  the Downtown Brooklyn Plan already contains a

         22  significant open space commitment.

         23                 The Downtown Brooklyn Plan provides

         24  for the creation of a one-acre new public open space

         25  on Willoughby Street to serve the workers and local
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          2  residents in the area of Willoughby Street and

          3  Flatbush Avenue.

          4                 The Administration also just as

          5  strongly recognizes there are existing parks that

          6  play a significant role in the quality of life in

          7  the surrounding community, that need improvement in

          8  their own right.

          9                 One of these is the Cadman Park Plaza

         10  -- excuse me -- Cadman Plaza Park. We are exploring

         11  with Councilman Yassky how we can improve this local

         12  resource, and we've discussed this on Tuesday.

         13                 Two other parks in the Downtown

         14  Brooklyn area are the Fort Greene Park and

         15  McLaughlin Park.

         16                 We are working with Council Member

         17  James to identify opportunities to support these

         18  community assets as well, and we discussed that also

         19  on Tuesday.

         20                 Further, it's important to note that

         21  the Administration is working closely with the State

         22  on the development of the Brooklyn Bridge Park,

         23  which will be an incredibly significant open space

         24  for all the communities surrounding Downtown

         25  Brooklyn.
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          2                 In 2003 the Mayor committed $65

          3  million in City funds toward the creation of this

          4  1.3 mile 67-acre waterfront park to supplement the

          5  funds allocated by the State.

          6                 At this point the second phase of the

          7  park opened last year at Main Street, and a third

          8  phase is scheduled to open this fall under the

          9  Manhattan Bridge.

         10                 In terms of historic preservation,

         11  both City Planning and EDC had been working closely

         12  with the Landmarks Preservation Commission, which

         13  has been keenly interested in Downtown Brooklyn's

         14  historic built fabric.

         15                 As you heard from Ronda Wist on

         16  Tuesday, the Landmarks Preservation Commission

         17  calendared two buildings for review on Willoughby

         18  Street, the former New York and New Jersey Telephone

         19  Company building at 81 Willoughby Street, and the

         20  Verizon building at 101 Willoughby Street.

         21                 Chairman Tierney expects both of

         22  these buildings will be designated shortly.

         23                 As part of the environmental review

         24  for the Downtown Brooklyn rezoning, the Landmark

         25  Preservation Commission also identified a number of
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          2  buildings that they believe are eligible for

          3  consideration as landmarks.

          4                 Landmarks has already begun that

          5  outreach process for the owners of 308-310

          6  Livingston Street, 1 Hoyt Street, which is actually

          7  the former Nann's Department Store on Fulton Mall,

          8  and 248 Duffield Street, also a former department

          9  store on the Fulton Mall.

         10                 Lastly, at the request of Council

         11  Member Yassky, City Planning and Landmarks

         12  Preservation Commission will investigate the use of

         13  the transfer development rights mechanism in

         14  Downtown Brooklyn as a way to promote preservation

         15  intent on what the planning process.

         16                 Josh Sirefman will now discuss the

         17  issues related to the underground railroad.

         18                 MR. SIREFMAN: Thank you, Regina.

         19                 Thank you, Chair.

         20                 On March 24, 2004, certain properties

         21  were called to our attention as possible "stations"

         22  or "safe houses" on the underground railroad.

         23                 We immediately directed our

         24  consultant, researched this history and their

         25  conclusions have been incorporated into the final
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          2  EIS.

          3                 The National Park Service has

          4  developed criteria to determine whether properties

          5  should be included in a National Register of

          6  Historic Places.

          7                 The criteria requires that the

          8  property have a documented association with some

          9  underground railroad events or person and retain

         10  physical integrity from the pre-Civil War period, or

         11  be likely to yield archeological information

         12  important to the history of the movement.

         13                 In addition to these criteria,

         14  properties have to be examined relative to other

         15  properties that have similar historic significance.

         16                 We have evaluated this building

         17  against the standard methodology. Resources used to

         18  investigate these claims include the New York City

         19  Municipal Archives, Department of Buildings and City

         20  Register. Census records, historical maps, City

         21  directories and local newspapers, particularly the

         22  Brooklyn Daily Eagle and the New York Times.

         23                 Representatives from a number of

         24  agencies, organizations and institutions were also

         25  contacted for information that they might be able to
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          2  provide, including the National Park Service, New

          3  York State Office of Parks Recreation and Historic

          4  Preservation, New York City Landmarks Preservation

          5  Commission, the Brooklyn and Queens Historical

          6  Society, Museum of the City of New York, New York

          7  Historical Society, the New York Public Library,

          8  Schomburg Center for Research in Black Culture, the

          9  Weeksville Museum and Bridge Street Church.

         10                 Research to date indicates no direct

         11  ties between the buildings and the Underground

         12  Railroad.

         13                 Specifically, none of the early

         14  owners' or occupants' names can be traced to either

         15  a known African-American family or to an

         16  abolitionist activist who may have offered their

         17  home as a "safe house," nor to anyone associated

         18  with historic events.

         19                 233 Duffield was not owner-occupied

         20  and is therefore less likely to have been used to

         21  harbor runaway slaves.

         22                 Research also shows that the

         23  buildings to not retain their original integrity.

         24                 For example, the building at 436 Gold

         25  Street was extensively remodeled with a new front in
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          2  the late nineteenth century and 277 Duffield Street

          3  was extended and remodeled in the twentieth century.

          4                 The most authentic looking building

          5  of the three at 233 Duffield Street appears to have

          6  had a story added since its original construction.

          7                 During the research process, AKRF,

          8  the firm that led the research, at the suggestion of

          9  the Schomberg Institute, consulted with Arthur

         10  Bankoff, consulting archaeologist to the Landmarks

         11  Preservation Commission, who concurred with AKRF's

         12  finding that there was no evidence directly

         13  connecting the buildings to the Underground

         14  Railroad.

         15                 Accordingly, the buildings do not

         16  meet the National Parks Service criteria.

         17                 At the hearing on Tuesday, which we

         18  discussed this, building owners presented additional

         19  testimony, maps and photographs, pertaining to the

         20  history and physical features of the building.

         21                 They graciously opened these

         22  properties to staff from EDC, City Planning, City

         23  Council, and AKRF who visited them on Wednesday.

         24                 Staff observed that the Fieldstone

         25  cellar walls were pierced by extensions toward the
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          2  street, rear and other voids.

          3                 It is their conclusion that these

          4  extensions to coal chutes that were part of the

          5  original buildings, these were common to those in

          6  nineteenth century dwellings like these, and that

          7  the longer extensions, which are brick, not

          8  fieldstone, provide access from the cellar to the

          9  street necessitated by the construction of buildings

         10  in the front yards.

         11                 The identification of these cellar

         12  elements on early Sanborn-type maps for other

         13  properties confirms that they were not unique

         14  structures.

         15                 Although it cannot be conclusively

         16  proven that the properties were never stations on

         17  the underground railroad, none of the evidence

         18  presented to date confirms that they were. In fact,

         19  the evidence suggests that they were not likely to

         20  have been, and do not meet the criteria as set forth

         21  by the National Parks Service.

         22                 When redevelopment occurs, additional

         23  tests, including excavation, will be done, and any

         24  findings will be rigorously checked against the

         25  criteria of the National Park Service, and if a
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          2  connection is established, artifacts will be

          3  appropriately exhibited and recorded.

          4                 I will also note that 233 Duffield

          5  was identified in the EIS as a potential

          6  architectural resource. The Landmarks Commission has

          7  reviewed this extensively and has expressed no

          8  interest in landmarking the property.

          9                 As I said on Tuesday, we are deeply

         10  committed to making sure that we do all the research

         11  necessary, and as the development process moves on,

         12  we will continue to do that.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: While we have

         15  been receiving testimony, we have been also joined

         16  by Council Member Al Vann, a member of this

         17  Committee, and I see we've also been joined by

         18  Council Member David Yassky and Charles Barron.

         19                 Questions by Committee members,

         20  please.

         21                 Council Member Baez.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: According to the

         23  analysis, although it cannot be conclusively proven

         24  that the properties were never stationed on the

         25  underground railroad, none of the evidence presented
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          2  today confirms that they were, okay? Then its

          3  commitment that after possession and prior to

          4  development, a salt testing, and, if necessary,

          5  "Stage B1 Field Testing" will be done, correct? And

          6  this is just for clarity; what happens in the event

          7  that the study is done and you find out that there

          8  was a tie to the underground railroad?

          9                 MR. SIREFMAN: There are standards for

         10  how that information is recorded. All of the

         11  information about what is found, the history of the

         12  site, and we would also be interested in appropriate

         13  ways that we can provide some commemoration of the

         14  significance.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         16  Barron, and then Council Member Yassky.

         17                 I'm sorry, Council Member Vann.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: No problem.

         19                 Yes, I was -- as you know, this is a

         20  very, very emotional issue for many of us for the

         21  obvious reasons, and I look at the standards, the

         22  criteria which had been established, which seems to

         23  be fair and just, in terms of trying to determine

         24  what existed at a time in the past.

         25                 So, from the evidence that you've
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          2  been able to discover based on this criteria, you're

          3  saying none of the evidence suggests that these

          4  particular houses were used as underground railroad

          5  stations or stops or safe houses and so forth; is

          6  that accurate?

          7                 MR. SIREFMAN: That's correct. That's

          8  correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: You mentioned

         10  the Schomburg and Weeksville, how are they involved

         11  in this process?

         12                 MR. SIREFMAN: They were consulted for

         13  any information they have and any guidance. I do

         14  have Lin Doh from AKRF here with me, who was one of

         15  the people who headed all of the research, maybe you

         16  can speak more to that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Yes, I would

         18  like to know how they were engaged and what were

         19  their recommendations?

         20                 MS. DOH: Certainly. I also have a

         21  cold, so... We had contacted --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: First of all, I'm

         23  sorry, introduce yourself for the record.

         24                 MS. DOH: Okay. My name is Lin Doh.

         25  I'm Vice President at AKRF, and I was the project
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          2  manager on the Environmental Impact Statement for

          3  the Downtown Brooklyn Plan.

          4                 Since that time, we have also taken

          5  on additional work to investigate the underground

          6  railroad research.

          7                 We had a list of contacts. Bear with

          8  me for a moment.

          9                 We had contacted Christopher Moore

         10  from the Schomburg Center for Research and Black

         11  Culture, and we had asked them for information in

         12  his archives, whether or not he would be able to

         13  help us, through historic databases and names and so

         14  on.

         15                 He had suggested that we go and look

         16  at the Brooklyn Historical Society records, and so

         17  then we followed up with that, as well.

         18                 We also asked for other references

         19  that he could provide for us, and he gave us the

         20  Brooklyn Historic Society. He also gave us names in

         21  the Queens Historical Society. And, so, we followed

         22  up.

         23                 Unfortunately, we were not able to

         24  obtain any other data that could help move the

         25  underground research forward.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: And Weeksville,

          3  was that the same? What happened with their

          4  involvement?

          5                 MS. DOH: Yes, we contacted a member

          6  of the Weekville Museum, as well, and unfortunately

          7  most people have suggested that we go back to the

          8  Brooklyn Historical Society.

          9                 Unfortunately, they're in the middle

         10  of renovations and a move and most of their

         11  databases are archived, so while we did visit and

         12  speak with the Brooklyn Historical Society, we could

         13  only look at a limited number of databases that were

         14  readily available.

         15                 MR. SIREFMAN: Let me just say, as I

         16  mentioned on Tuesday, we're committed to ongoing

         17  research on this and to staying on it and to

         18  continuing to look for any other potential sources

         19  of data.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Finally, and

         21  forgive my ignorance, but if you were to find some

         22  evidence, how would this be treated in the general

         23  plan?

         24                 And if you do not find additional

         25  evidence, what exactly is going to occur on that
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          2  site?

          3                 MR. SIREFMAN: The site is included in

          4  one of the sites that over time will be developed

          5  for commercial use.

          6                 Any evidence that is found, we will

          7  certainly follow all appropriate protocol for

          8  recording that information and hope to work with

          9  your colleagues and others to figure out the

         10  appropriate way to establish some commemoration of

         11  the significance of the location.

         12                 If no evidence is found, we will

         13  proceed without doing those steps.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Perhaps you're

         15  answering a question that was asked previously. I

         16  didn't perhaps understand your answer.

         17                 But thus far there is no evidence to

         18  convince you, but in your last paragraph, your

         19  commitment, where you say "the Final EIS," what's

         20  EIS?

         21                 MR. SIREFMAN: EIS is Environmental

         22  Impact Statement.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay, "... Plan

         24  commits us to soil testing and, if necessary, Stage

         25  1B Field Testing."
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          2                 MR. SIREFMAN: Yes, I apologize for

          3  the technical language in there, but bottom line

          4  what that means is that the appropriate

          5  archeological excavation work will be done so that

          6  we can understand if there's any physical evidence

          7  that can't be seen just by a visual inspection

          8  currently. Once you can get inside the building,

          9  drill down to the ground, do things like that, then

         10  we may be able to find other additional evidence

         11  that we have access to.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: So, that will be

         13  done?

         14                 MR. SIREFMAN: That will be done.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Prior to or

         16  after you take possession?

         17                 MR. SIREFMAN: We can't do that until

         18  we take possession. But that would be done no matter

         19  what evidence has or has not been found to that

         20  date.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: And after you

         22  take possession, and after the field testing or soil

         23  testing, and you discover in the evidence through

         24  the archeological dig it did exist, then what

         25  exactly will happen from there?
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          2                 MR. SIREFMAN: We will certainly,

          3  based on what that is we will take whatever steps

          4  necessary to make sure that that information is

          5  recording appropriately, according to, again, to the

          6  standards put forth by the National Park Service.

          7                 We will also, we're very interested

          8  in figuring out ways that we can provide some kind

          9  of commemoration for the significance that may be

         10  found.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: In other words,

         12  if you find through your soil testing, archeological

         13  whatever, to suggest that in reality there was an

         14  underground railroad station or whatever, and you

         15  already possess or control that site, you would do

         16  then what you would have done at this stage, if they

         17  had met the standards by the Park Service, or would

         18  it be different?

         19                 MR. SIREFMAN: I don't think it would

         20  be different, except we don't have that evidence to

         21  date, so at that point it would be new information.

         22  But we would do the same thing now if we had that

         23  information, would be exploring, we can make sure to

         24  record that information and to commemorate it

         25  appropriately.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: I guess, when

          3  you said record and commemorate the information, you

          4  then tell me what will happen at the site, you

          5  control the site, you did, you find out well there

          6  really might have been because of so and so, do you

          7  go back to plan A or plan B? Do you build the

          8  commercial space anyway, or do you do something

          9  other than that?

         10                 MR. SIREFMAN: The current intention

         11  is that we will go, follow the plan as stated now.

         12  We will figure out an appropriate way to commemorate

         13  any significance that's discovered.

         14                 The evidence now does not indicate

         15  that that will be the case. We certainly are not

         16  going to stop looking for it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: I understand

         18  what you're saying, but what you're saying is that

         19  once we control it, and if we do a dig and if we

         20  didn't find evidence commemorated in some way, but

         21  you're going to go ahead with your plan to build

         22  essentially, right?

         23                 MR. SIREFMAN: That's correct.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay. So, this

         25  Field Testing is kind of --
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          2                 MR. SIREFMAN: It's important

          3  information. We have to do it. We need to know these

          4  things.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Yes, it is

          6  important to know, but it's not going to stop the

          7  plan at that stage of the game because of evidence

          8  you have at this stage of the game.

          9                 MR. SIREFMAN: Correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Thank you for

         11  your honesty.

         12                 MR. SIREFMAN: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         14  Barron.

         15                 And then Council Member Yassky. If

         16  anybody else wants to ask a question, please let me

         17  know so I can put you down on the list.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

         19  much, Mr. Chair.

         20                 You know, this is a very interesting

         21  process. First of all, it makes no sense to knock

         22  the house down and then if you find it in the fall

         23  -- suppose you would have knocked out a safe house,

         24  you erect it and put it back up? That makes

         25  absolutely no sense that you would do something
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          2  after you demolish the house. Only a fool would go

          3  for something like that. That's number one.

          4                 Number two. I sit on the Landmarks

          5  Committee, and you don't know how many landmarked

          6  neighborhood properties have come before us, all

          7  they did was write down that this is the history of

          8  this building. And I questioned time and time again,

          9  was there any slavery during that time? They have no

         10  history of any slavery in some of the buildings.

         11                 I mention this, because this is a

         12  very subjective thing, landmarking. History is very

         13  subjective. Evidence of history is very subjective.

         14  So, for you to come forth, oh, talked to the

         15  Schomburg, talked to Weeksville, they gave us some

         16  leads. We'll do some testing after we knock down the

         17  building of the soil, and if we find it, we'll find

         18  a way to preserve your history -- to me is just, I

         19  think is careless. I think this needs more time. I

         20  know the Speaker is on board and everybody is

         21  talking to everybody and everybody wants to rush

         22  this thing through, so I don't know, Mr. Chairman,

         23  if anything is going to be said here to make a

         24  difference, because I know how things work around

         25  here, but you know, we need a little more time. We
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          2  need a little more time.

          3                 If they can sit here and tell you we

          4  might be able to find something, something else. If

          5  there's something else that could be done when

          6  people present stuff -- if right now your house, God

          7  forbid there was some kind of slavery now, and

          8  someone used your house to hide and then 100 years

          9  later how will we know that happened? It could be

         10  oral tradition, someone on here could have passed it

         11  down. Yes, we know that to be true. You know,

         12  sometimes you don't always find artifacts or bones.

         13                 And another thing, just in this

         14  downtown area here, when we were fighting against

         15  the digging up of our ancestral graves here, they

         16  told us, archeologists told us there's nothing down

         17  there, that it didn't exist. That's what they told

         18  us.

         19                 We insisted, and we had further

         20  diggings done to find out it was 400 and some odd

         21  bones down there, 20,000 in the whole area that you

         22  already built buildings on. Why? Because you didn't

         23  do a thorough job researching. Because the only

         24  thing you were concerned about is development, at

         25  the expense of preserving history, especially our

                                                            36

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  history. Especially our history.

          3                 So, I know people want to rush

          4  through this because so many wonderful things are

          5  going to happen with development, but we need more

          6  time. And I know everybody wants to do a vote today,

          7  and I know everybody is being lobbied, but we need

          8  more time because I don't think you did a good job

          9  in thoroughly researching this, and I don't accept

         10  that afterwards, you know, after you demolished, if

         11  you find something, what a record monument or

         12  something or put it in the museum somewhere or

         13  something, or say, oh, yeah, this house was, we made

         14  a mistake, it was a safe house, so we'll just put

         15  the wood, the wood from the stuff we destroyed,

         16  we'll just put that in a museum somewhere.

         17                 You know, I think we need more time,

         18  Mr. Chairman. I know what goes on here, and I know

         19  what everybody wants to do, but I think it needs

         20  more time, just to do a little more research. I

         21  would like to sit down and talk to the Schomburg

         22  people myself. I don't trust this slipshod kind of

         23  thing - we spoke to this one, spoke to that one. I

         24  think it needs more time. I think it needs more

         25  thoroughness, and I don't think we should rush
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          2  through it.

          3                 I'd like to have a chance to talk to

          4  the Schomburg and Weeksville and just further look

          5  into this.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Just to comment

          7  on the issue of rushing. You know we are under a

          8  time clock, that is a ULURP procedure. If we were to

          9  take more time, in effect the only option we would

         10  have is to deny the entire project.

         11                 We are making a modification if we

         12  approve this. This then has to go back to City

         13  Planning and within the time clock we only have a

         14  few more days to delay our vote on this.

         15                 So, the only other alternative, in

         16  terms of giving more time to look at this issue, is

         17  to deny the entire application.

         18                 That may be something you may want to

         19  do, but I'm letting you know, that's the restraints

         20  that we're operating under.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I understand.

         22  But if you deny an application, they could resubmit

         23  when they make the changes and the clock starts

         24  again.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Oh, absolutely.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: It's all about

          3  political will, Tony. You and I know it's about the

          4  political will. It's not about procedures. If

          5  someone really wanted it to happen, you deny the

          6  application, they resubmit with the changes, and the

          7  clock starts again. That could happen.

          8                 But if you don't want to do that, and

          9  we only have four days, then people will vote it up

         10  and they'll go ahead and destroy the underground

         11  railroad, and Tony and Melinda, you know, the spirit

         12  of Harriet Tubman is going to come looking for both

         13  of you and the Speaker, and where is Gail, and the

         14  rest of you.

         15                 But on a serious note, Tony, I think

         16  if it is true, because this isn't substantial

         17  evidence that it emphatically is not. If they had

         18  that, you wouldn't even have an argument from me, if

         19  they emphatically said we can say this definitely is

         20  not so. We can prove that. I wouldn't even be here

         21  wasting your time.

         22                 But I just don't think they've done

         23  that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Well, first of

         25  all, you're not wasting our time. I mean, we
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          2  consider this to be an important issue. There

          3  apparently is a paradox, in terms of documenting

          4  locations of the underground railroad, because they

          5  didn't keep a record. So, you're in a catch-22

          6  situation. How do you prove something where they

          7  didn't keep records.

          8                 The one thing that the Administration

          9  did with our staff, out of Tuesday's hearing, a

         10  number of the homeowners asked, you know, come into

         11  our house, and immediately the Administration, at

         12  our request, did that with Alonzo from our staff,

         13  and unfortunately the answer has come back, as

         14  you've heard here today, that they still cannot find

         15  evidence of that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Because they

         17  went into somebody's house?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: What?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Because they

         20  went into somebody's house?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Yes. Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: But you all

         23  are not historians or archeologists. You can't just

         24  walk in somebody's house --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: With the
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          2  consultants --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: -- And say

          4  this is not a safe house.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Mr. Chair, if

          6  you don't mind, I just want to know who was part of

          7  the delegation so-to-speak.

          8                 It was Alonzo, someone from City

          9  Planning, somebody from Landmarks?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And then

         12  somebody who was an archeologist.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Why don't you

         14  state for the record who was actually on --

         15                 MS. MYER: For the record, I was

         16  present, Regina Myer. Alonzo Carr, City Council.

         17  Hardy Adasco, Senior Vice President of EDC. Michael

         18  Burke, Executive Director of Downtown Brooklyn

         19  Council; and Jennifer Morris, the Historian at AKRS.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay. So, there

         21  was a historian in the team?

         22                 MS. MYER: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Was Landmarks

         24  there, Ma'am?

         25                 MS. MYER: They were not.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

          3  Yassky is next on the list.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I have

          5  information on the time. I just want to make it

          6  clear. I understand what Councilman Barron is

          7  saying. I think just a few notes; number one, this

          8  application is similar, just for the record, to

          9  every application that comes to the City of New

         10  York. It's on a 150-day time clock. It took about, I

         11  would say, and City Planning might know better, I

         12  think about a year or two to pre-certify this

         13  project. Since it was pre-certified, it's been about

         14  six months that we have waited in order to do this.

         15                 So, I really wanted to just clarify

         16  the serious time. And just as a cure of the Land Use

         17  Committee, it's a very difficult prospect because

         18  every rezoning we get in the City of New York does

         19  have the possibility of having historical impact,

         20  and which is why when it comes to issues like this,

         21  we do try to have at least some sort of

         22  documentation that something did exist as opposed to

         23  documentation that it didn't exist. It would be

         24  extremely difficult, I think, to produce that.

         25                 But I really wanted to more so
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          2  clarify the issue of timing, and just as a policy

          3  perspective for the City Council.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, Mr.

          6  Chair, just to respond real quick. Some people did

          7  come and present documentation that is not accepted.

          8  So, it's not just proven documentation didn't exist,

          9  but the documentation that they did present is not

         10  accepted. They don't think it's valid, some of these

         11  things that the community has presented.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         13  Yassky.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chair.

         16                 Just two questions. First for Mr.

         17  Russo on the Tillary Street reconstruction.

         18                 I would just ask whether you would

         19  look at while you're planning what to do on Tillary

         20  Street the feasibility of elevating either Tillary

         21  or Adams to create an overpass/underpass.

         22                 As you know, that intersection at

         23  Tillary and Adams has been one of the most

         24  troublesome, I think for you, for the Department, in

         25  all of Brooklyn, and I personally do not think that
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          2  they're -- I think it's going to be very difficult

          3  to make that a traversable intersection without

          4  either some sort of an overpass or underpass. It's I

          5  know fraught with complications, and frankly many of

          6  the residents I represent don't like that idea, the

          7  ones in Concord Village. But I do think as a traffic

          8  management solution, that's your best bet.

          9                 So, I'd ask if you'd look at that as

         10  you're planning the reconstruction that you talked

         11  about here earlier.

         12                 MR. RUSSO: Okay. I mean, we're

         13  looking forward to working with the community and

         14  yourself to come up with the optimal solution for

         15  the gateway to Brooklyn, frankly.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes.

         17                 MR. RUSSO: And we're looking forward

         18  to improving it, and I think we're all going to

         19  enter it with an open mind as to the solutions.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, thank

         21  you.

         22                 And I guess for Mr. Sirefman, on the

         23  question of these Duffield Street properties that

         24  are, where the question has been raised about

         25  historical connection to the underground railroad,
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          2  my suggestion, I want to give you a suggestion or a

          3  proposal to put on the table, which is that the

          4  Landmarks Commission ought to schedule -- as I

          5  understand it, the property owners have applied for

          6  historical landmark status, I think the Landmarks

          7  Commission ought to hold a hearing on that

          8  application, the term I guess is calendar it for

          9  consideration.

         10                 I understand that in the world of

         11  landmarks, calendaring is generally treated as, you

         12  know, tantamount of granting, that they only

         13  calendar something for consideration when they're

         14  prepared to grant the application.

         15                 I'm not asking that you agree to

         16  grant the landmark status. I will tell you, I do not

         17  know if this is -- if it's justified or not, but I

         18  do think it deserves a full hearing, and I think

         19  that in this case, maybe I'll do it more often, but

         20  certainly in a case of something, Al used the word

         21  "emotional" but I think it's, you know, it's

         22  important. And where an issue like this is raised, I

         23  think it's worthy of a full hearing in which the

         24  evidence is presented and aired and all the

         25  arguments in favor of landmarking are presented in a

                                                            45

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  fully open and transparent way, if there are

          3  arguments against, those are presented in a fully

          4  transparent way, and then the Landmarks Commission

          5  rules and makes a decision. They're the body best

          6  suited to do that.

          7                 I will tell you, you know, as I think

          8  a reasonably historically literate layperson, or by

          9  no means an expert, I looked at the evidence that

         10  the property owners brought forward. It seems to me

         11  to be, to have some weight to it, but not really

         12  that I could judge.

         13                 I mean, a coal chute versus a

         14  hideaway, you need more expertise than I have. And I

         15  think if I'm in that position, I think that that's

         16  probably true of not just a lot of the folks here,

         17  but also the public, and these decisions do have to

         18  be legitimate with the public.

         19                 So, I think the Landmarks Commission,

         20  they're the appropriate body to make this

         21  determination. They have the expertise, and the

         22  hearing in which the evidence is presented, I've got

         23  to believe, maybe I'm optimistic, but I've got to

         24  believe that the public and people that care about

         25  this, myself included, after a full hearing if the
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          2  answer from Landmarks Commission is there is no

          3  evidence, or the evidence is in the proper

          4  historical context, when you know that something

          5  that looks like a hideaway might really be a coal

          6  chute, or is probably a coal chute, I think the

          7  people would be satisfied by that, and, so, as I'm

          8  sure you're aware, documenting, this is a

          9  particularly difficult thing to document when we

         10  renamed Fulton Street, you know, and I got a little

         11  bit into the history of Harriet Tubman and the

         12  underground railroad, the history is very difficult.

         13  There's not a lot of primary sources for obvious

         14  reasons, and a lot of -- it requires trained

         15  historians to make the inferences.

         16                 You know, read the autobiography of

         17  Frederick Douglas, he says nothing, and this is the

         18  most important kind of document of escape slaves at

         19  the time, he says I'm not going to put on paper

         20  anything about how I got out because I don't want to

         21  jeopardize anyone, of course.

         22                 So, given all that, it seems to me

         23  the solution here is to have the Landmarks

         24  Commission schedule this for a hearing, have the

         25  evidence be presented and aired, and then decide it.
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          2                 I will tell you, I don't think that

          3  needs to delay rezoning. I honestly do not. If

          4  Landmarks goes ahead and has that hearing, they're

          5  the body to do it.

          6                 So, that's the suggestion I put

          7  forward to you as my two cents.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         10  Yassky, I want to call up on you because obviously

         11  the members of the Committee are influenced by how

         12  the Council members who are most affected by these

         13  projects feel. So, I think I'm looking from you, as

         14  the Chair of this Committee, some direction. Are you

         15  in support of the project?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I do. As I

         17  said on Tuesday, I support the project, and I could

         18  give the same long explanation of why I did Tuesday,

         19  that I did on Tuesday, I think this is a worthwhile

         20  project.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         22  Baez and Council Member Barron, and meanwhile we've

         23  been joined by Committee member, or Council Member

         24  Eric Gioia.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Just one quick
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          2  question.

          3                 Prior to possession, I'm going back

          4  to the soil testing and field testing, that could

          5  not be done because then you would have to demolish

          6  the homes there?

          7                 MR. SIREFMAN: Structurally we can't

          8  do that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: I'm sorry?

         10                 MR. SIREFMAN: It wouldn't be possible

         11  structurally.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         13  Barron.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: You said there

         15  was a historian that came with you. Who was the

         16  historian?

         17                 MR. SIREFMAN: The historian was

         18  Jennifer Morris from the firm of AKRF, a colleague

         19  of Lin's.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: And what is

         21  her PhD in?

         22                 MS. DOH: Jennifer Morris is a

         23  historian with our firm. She's been with our firm

         24  for about five years now. She also acted as the

         25  Deputy Project Manager for this project. So, she
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          2  knew from the onset --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Yes, but I

          4  mean, what is her background, and what history?

          5                 MS. DOH: She graduated from Columbia

          6  University. She holds a master's in Historic

          7  Planning.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Historic

          9  Planning?

         10                 MS. DOH: A historian --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: And you think

         12  a person with a master's in Historic Planning should

         13  interpret African-American History, is an expert to

         14  do that?

         15                 MR. SIREFMAN: She's not the only

         16  person whose judgment has been --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, I'm just

         18  trying to find out the historian. You know, we

         19  mentioned the historian was there, so I wanted to

         20  know this great historian that had -- obviously,

         21  would definitely have an expertise in

         22  African-American history, because I'm certain,

         23  right, Mr. Chair? They would want to bring someone

         24  to analyze, evaluate, validate, African-American

         25  history who definitely knows the difference between
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          2  a coal chute and a safe place and all of that stuff.

          3                 So, I'm sure he or she is

          4  extensively, you know, read in our history, so that

          5  person you certainly brought could validate?

          6                 MR. SIREFMAN: Let me just repeat. I

          7  don't recall if you were here when I read this list

          8  before or not.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I heard all of

         10  that stuff. I want this point, we're talking about

         11  this particular point here about the historical

         12  experts --

         13                 MR. SIREFMAN: I'd like you to know

         14  all of the --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I know you

         16  said the Schomburg, Historical Society, Landmarks, I

         17  heard all of that.

         18                 MR. SIREFMAN: And all the historians

         19  --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I heard all of

         21  that.

         22                 MR. SIREFMAN: And all the historians

         23  at Landmarks.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I heard some

         25  of the ones that came.
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          2                 MR. SIREFMAN: The conclusions are not

          3  at all based only on one person --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Right. I was

          5  just talking about the ones who actually came to the

          6  site.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Gentlemen, just

          8  for the record, remember this is being taped. If you

          9  both talk at once, we'll never be able to figure out

         10  later on what you said. Please talk one at a time.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Just tell him

         12  to stay on the point and not try to evade the issue,

         13  and then I won't have to interrupt. But it's very

         14  difficult to listen to him go over stuff that's

         15  irrelevant to what I'm saying right now.

         16                 I was really speaking specifically,

         17  very narrowly, to that particular historian, as I

         18  said, went to the house and evaluated.

         19                 So, obviously that's not an expert of

         20  African American history.

         21                 MS. DOH: Councilman Barron, it should

         22  be noted that structurally if they, in the past coal

         23  chutes could have been used as safe houses or as

         24  hidden areas, structurally there isn't a difference,

         25  no discernible difference between something that
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          2  would be made specifically as a safeway. What you

          3  wanted to do was to sort of hide it as much as

          4  possible. The secrecy was very important, so no one

          5  is going to design a safe house to a particular

          6  dimension that would be different from say a coal

          7  chute, and through time and through alterations,

          8  it's very difficult to actually decipher the --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, I'm just

         10  saying who is the expert to validate that? Not you.

         11                 MS. DOH: Certainly not I.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Right. So, I'm

         13  questioning that. I hear what you're saying because

         14  I'm not an expert in history and I could say that.

         15  But I'm just saying expert validation. But to move

         16  to Council Member Yassky's point on the hearing, I

         17  think it would be good. You know, why can't you just

         18  eliminate, you know, why can't you just exclude

         19  those homes and still build the projects?

         20                 I mean, first of all, the initial

         21  plans didn't go that far anyway, so why shouldn't

         22  those homes be preserved and go ahead with the

         23  project without demolishing those homes?

         24                 MR. SIREFMAN: The physical location

         25  renders that very, very difficult. I said the
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          2  physical location renders that very difficult.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: What do you

          4  mean by that?

          5                 MR. SIREFMAN: That the location of

          6  the structures would not allow for a commercial

          7  development to be feasible.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Didn't the

          9  original plan, there were some plans that didn't go

         10  that far. Was there ever --

         11                 MR. SIREFMAN: No, that's not correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: There was

         13  never a time where the plans didn't include those

         14  homes?

         15                 MR. SIREFMAN: The plan has always

         16  included those.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Always

         18  included those homes?

         19                 Well, I've heard differently from the

         20  community. They were saying that there was a time

         21  where it didn't include that. There's another

         22  conflicting point.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: So far it's

         24  always been part of the plan.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Always part of
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          2  the plan. Because I heard differently.

          3                 So, what would happen if we did find

          4  out like one minute before the vote that it was a

          5  safe house, what would happen? What would happen to

          6  the plan? How would you be able to go forward?

          7                 MR. SIREFMAN: Again, based on what

          8  information is found, all of the proper recordings

          9  for that history would be made based on standards by

         10  the National Park Service and other entities, and

         11  any efforts at commemoration would commence.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: No, I'm saying if

         13  it was validated that that was a safe house and it

         14  should be landmarked and not destroyed, how would

         15  the project go forward? What could happen to make

         16  the project go forward?

         17                 MR. SIREFMAN: Again, based on the

         18  same question Councilman Vann asked, based on what

         19  evidence, the appropriate action is to record that

         20  history, figure out what the appropriate

         21  commemoration would be, would start.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: So, if the

         23  appropriate commemoration was to preserve it, how

         24  would the project go forward?

         25                 MR. SIREFMAN: At this point we do not
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          2  believe that is a possible outcome.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I'm not

          4  talking about reality, we're doing hypothetical

          5  here. We know at this point you don't believe that.

          6  I'm just saying if, in fact, that turned out to be

          7  true, how would the project go forward, if you were

          8  forced by law, whatever, to preserve those homes?

          9                 MR. SIREFMAN: I can't speak to

         10  hypothetical situations. I can only take the

         11  evidence very seriously and find out as much

         12  information as possible.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

         14  much, Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         16                 Any questions? Any other questions?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         19  Vann.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Sort of thinking

         21  out loud, I guess.

         22                 I think that the extraordinary

         23  historical fact of slavery and the extraordinary

         24  impact of the underground railroad and so forth, the

         25  very nature of it is such that one would want you to
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          2  presume the positive rather than the negative,

          3  obviously.

          4                 I think that there has to be a

          5  balance reached here, and I thought that Council

          6  Member Yassky offered that balance, saying let there

          7  be a public hearing, where those who feel there is

          8  evidence, come forward to present it not only to the

          9  Landmark Commission's overview, but to the public at

         10  large. The public has a right to know. There needs

         11  to be that level of transparency, because we're all

         12  for development, and jobs, and all of that pertains,

         13  and that's important, and we would all be supportive

         14  of that, but we also do not want to trample on the

         15  history of any people.

         16                 And, so, if there is any possibility

         17  that there was indeed no underground railroad

         18  activity, we would want to make sure that it's

         19  acknowledged in the appropriate way.

         20                 So, if we can find a way out of this

         21  through a public hearing by the Landmarks

         22  Commission, I think that could be a vehicle,

         23  whereby, yes, you know, at some point a decision has

         24  to be made, and I think we feel we've had our day in

         25  court, and we'll be prepared to live with that
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          2  decision.

          3                 So, I think that's an option that we

          4  ought to choose to consider, Mr. Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

          6                 Council Member Gioia.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chair. My apologies for my tardiness. I may have

          9  missed, I certainly missed some of your testimony,

         10  but in response to Councilman Barron's question, I'm

         11  a little confused.

         12                 If it was found out that these homes,

         13  the homes in question, were part of the underground

         14  railroad, and do deserve historic protection or

         15  landmark protection, is it your testimony then that

         16  commercial development would then not be possible?

         17                 MR. SIREFMAN: We do not believe that

         18  that is in fact the case. And we are committed to

         19  further research.

         20                 Landmarks Commission has reviewed

         21  extensively the data to date of historians and

         22  architects and archeologists have reviewed that, and

         23  they do not believe that is the case.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Okay, let me

         25  just ask you very simply. So, if these homes were
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          2  not included, or if you could not rezone these

          3  homes, would commercial development be possible?

          4                 MR. SIREFMAN: If we could not rezone

          5  those homes? Unlikely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: So, it's

          7  unlikely that the development you're looking to do

          8  would be possible if these homes are not included?

          9                 MR. SIREFMAN: Correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Correct.

         11                 So, it seems that the deck has been

         12  stacked before you begin the process of examining

         13  whether or not these homes should be historically

         14  protected because the whole point of this is to,

         15  from your point of view, to rezone this for a

         16  commercial development, but if these homes were

         17  historically protected, then you couldn't do the

         18  economic development you seek to do, correct?

         19                 MR. SIREFMAN: The Downtown Plan has a

         20  number of projects and sites within it. This is only

         21  one.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: But based on

         23  your own testimony, if these were not included, if

         24  you couldn't touch these homes, if you couldn't

         25  change these homes, then the goal of your project
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          2  would be hurt?

          3                 MR. SIREFMAN: Correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I'm concerned

          5  by what I'm hearing, Mr. Chair.

          6                 I mean, it sounds like it's the fox

          7  guarding the hen house a little bit, that the

          8  commercial development would be harmed if it were

          9  found there's a historical record that these in fact

         10  are parts of the underground railroad, so it would

         11  then behoove the people doing the examination to

         12  then find that it's not part of the historical

         13  record.

         14                 MR. SIREFMAN: Councilman, can I just

         15  reiterate some things? I believe you were not here

         16  on Tuesday.

         17                 This plan is the result of years of

         18  work, looking at every issue imaginable. This issue

         19  was raised in March '04 and since then we have at

         20  the third public hearing that we've had, since the

         21  ULURP process began, since then we have undertaken

         22  extensive research.

         23                 We are committed, as I have said

         24  repeatedly, to continuing that research to

         25  understand, and really I think Council Member Vann
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          2  hit it right on, it's an incredibly important issue,

          3  we're very sensitive to that. We are very interested

          4  in figuring out, getting to real evidence. We

          5  believe there is not to date. But I do not think it

          6  is a fair characterization that to say a

          7  preconceived conclusion.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I caught part

          9  of the questioning. You say you've done extensive

         10  research in this historical record of this. Can you

         11  point to the testimony or the research of a single

         12  African-American scholar on this that says it is not

         13  part of the underground railroad?

         14                 MR. SIREFMAN: There are a number of

         15  scholars who we have asked to provide both direction

         16  and research and review information. A number of

         17  experts.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Just very

         19  simply, I'm going to ask you very simply: Can you

         20  point at this time to a single African-American

         21  scholar who you have consulted who has concluded

         22  that this is not part of the underground railroad?

         23                 MR. SIREFMAN: Frankly, on the list of

         24  all scholars I don't have their ethnic identity. I'd

         25  be happy to provide that information.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Is there anyone

          3  who is familiar with the research that has been done

          4  on this that can answer the question?

          5                 MS. DOH: Actually, we had contacted

          6  -- I have a list here of all the contacts of

          7  various folks that we have spoken with. For the most

          8  part we had telephone contact, so it was very

          9  difficult for us. We really didn't distinguish

         10  between the ethnicity of the experts. We were given

         11  leads that they were experts in this field, and

         12  therefore we followed them.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Did it occur to

         14  anyone at EDC that it may make sense to consult with

         15  a scholar on this topic, an African-American

         16  scholar, in the underground railroad?

         17                 MR. SIREFMAN: We absolutely tried to

         18  reach as many scholars as possible on this.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Okay.

         20                 I conclude my questions.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: If there are no

         22  other questions, thank you.

         23                 MR. SIREFMAN: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: We are going to

         25  take a ten-minute break before we proceed further to
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          2  discuss the items that we've heard this morning. So,

          3  I'll recess the meeting for about ten minutes.

          4                 (Recess taken.)

          5                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: We have had a

          6  lengthy delay, and we're going to have even a

          7  further lengthy delay. In the interest of trying to

          8  work out a better agreement, as I mentioned at the

          9  last hearing, we've had negotiations since Tuesday

         10  with the Administration, we obviously had the

         11  Administration testify today, we are laying over

         12  this item for the vote til Monday at 1:30. We are

         13  laying this item over til Monday at 1:30 in this

         14  room, and I will ask Committee members to reconvene

         15  at that time, and that will be for the vote, in

         16  which case in between that time between now and

         17  then, we will obviously be having more discussions.

         18  We've already started discussions downstairs and I

         19  think that we are close to reaching a solution.

         20                 Thank you for your consideration. And

         21  Madam Chair, it's your Committee.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 12:00 p.m.)

         23
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